I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant Terrie Lewark, assignee of Public Storage. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion filed 

February 10, 2014 and ordered to be published on March 25, 2014. 

(Attached as Appendix A) 

Petitioner also seeks Review of one holding in the 

Unpublished Opinion filed August 5, 2013, which was subsequently 

reconsidered and withdrawn on February 10, 2014. (Attached as 

Appendix B) 

Ill. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Published Opinion set a mistaken precedent 

when it ruled that the terms of a contractor's written agreement to 

purchase additional insured coverage for its customer eliminated 

coverage actually purchased for the additional insured customer 

that was broader than required by the agreement to purchase 

coverage? 

2. Does the rule in Bordeaux v. Am Safety Ins. Co., 145 

Wash. App. 687,696, 186 P.3d 1188 (2008) that self-insured 
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retention is "not insurance" because "traditional insurance involves 

risk shifting while self-insurance involves risk retention" apply in a 

subrogation setting, but not to an "other insurance" policy 

provision? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Davis Door's American States' umbrella policy also insured 

"any person or organization" for which Davis Door was required by 

"written contract" to provide "the kind of insurance afforded by this 

policy." (CP 428) 

Such a "written contract" was part of a Master Agreement 

between Public Storage and Davis Door which was renewed shortly 

before Ms. Lewark was injured. (CP 507) 

Davis Door was required to provide the following insurance: 

a. Employer's liability insurance of not less than $1,000,000, 
and commercial general liability insurance insuring 
against claims for personal injury, death or property 
damage occurring upon, in or about the Property in limits 
not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. Prior to the start 
of any work a certificate of insurance must be received by 
Owner naming Public Storage, Inc. and each of its 
affiliates, subsidiaries, partners, owners, officers, directors 
and employees as additional insureds. 

Emphasis added. (CP 724) 
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There is no dispute that there is no coverage under one of 

Davis Door's liability policies; it contains an exclusion that applies to 

Ms. Lewark's claim. The issue here is whether there is coverage 

under Davis Door's umbrella commercial general liability policy. 

That umbrella policy provides coverage for Public Storage so long 

as Davis Door was required by contract to name Public Storage as 

an additional insured for the "kind of coverage that is afforded by 

this [the umbrella liability] policy." Opinion at 4. As described below, 

the court of appeals, without citing any authority to support its 

position, artificially and impermissibly limited the scope of the 

umbrella policy. The published court of appeals Opinion is 

incorrect, contradicts established law, and should be reversed. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Published Opinion Violated the Context Rule, as 
Applied by Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle 
Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 993, 115 P.Jd 292 (2005), by 
Misusing an Extrinsic Contract to Interpret the 
Insurance Policy. 

The Court of Appeals interpreted the umbrella policy from 

which Ms. Lewark seeks coverage by interpreting, not the policy's 

own language, but rather by interpreting the language of an 

underlying contract, the Master Agreement, between Davis Door, 
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the insured, and Public Storage, which was not even a party to the 

purchase of the insurance policy. This violated a widely 

acknowledged rule of insurance policy interpretation, placed undue 

emphasis on the underlying contract which was extrinsic evidence 

of dubious relevance, and exposed the public to damaging 

uncertainty in the interpretation of one of the most extensively used 

types of standardized contracts. 

Insurance policies are essential for virtually every family and 

every business. Disputes over the meaning of policies are common 

and crowd our courts. Interpreting the insurance policy by the 

language of the underlying contract is an improper use of extrinsic 

evidence under the Washington context rule for contract 

interpretation and directly contradicts the Washington Supreme 

Court case of Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 

154 Wn.2d 493,502-504 and 509, 115 P.3d 292 (2005). See, 

RAP13.4 (b)(1). Whether a policy should be interpreted by its own 

language or that of an extrinsic contract "is an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." 

See RAP 13.4(b)(4). The ruling should be reviewed by the 

Supreme Court and reversed. 
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The interpretation of an insurance policy depends upon 

analyzing the words in the policy, not those of an underlying 

contract between the insured and another party. "The parties to 

whom an insurer owes policy benefits are set forth in the policy. An 

insure(s duties are defined by what it contracted to do, not by what 

the insured contracted to do." Windt, Insurance Claims & Disputes: 

Representation of Insurance Companies & Insureds, Sec. 11 :30 

Additional insured provisions, at note 16 (Westlaw Ed. 2013) 

(Emphasis in original). Even under the Washington context rule for 

interpreting contracts the language to be interpreted is that of the 

subject contract itself, if extrinsic documents are consulted it, is for 

the purpose of divining the intent of the parties to assist in the 

interpretation, not to directly impose an interpretation upon the 

subject contract itself. Hearst Communications, Inc., 154 Wn.2d at 

509. This kind of extrinsic evidence is useful to determine the 

mutual intent of the parties during the contract negotiations, but 

here the underlying contract was negotiated between Davis Door 

and Public Storage, not the insurer. There is no evidence the 

insurance policy terms were negotiated at all, and usually they are 

not. See, Spratt v. Crusader Ins. Co., 109 Wash. App. 944, 949, 37 

P.3d 1269 (2002). 
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In Ms. Lewark's case the Court of Appeals read the Master 

Agreement's requirement that Davis Door obtain for Public Storage 

" ... commercial general liability insurance ... in limits not less than 

$1,000,000 .... "and, having noted the underlying CGL with 

$1,000,000 limits, ruled "[c]overage under the umbrella policy was 

not required by the master agreement" completely ignoring the 

issue of whether the umbrella's language, itself, provided coverage, 

as umbrella coverage sometimes will. Master Agreement, (CP 448, 

9.a.) Published Opinion at p. 5. See, Prudential Property and Cas. 

Ins. Co. v. Lawrence, 45 Wn. App. 111,117-120,724 P.2d 418 

1986) and Jacob's Meadow Owners Ass'n. v. Plateau, 139 Wn. 

App. 743, 768 footnote 13, 162 P.3d 1153 (2007) (umbrella 

coverage broader than that of the policy under it will drop down to 

fill primary coverage gaps). Importantly, the court of appeals' 

reasoning can be run equally well in reverse, to reach the opposite 

conclusion; that is to say, Davis Door complied with its contractual 

obligations by purchasing the umbrella general liability policy, and 

therefore had no separate contractual obligation to name Public 

Storage as an additional insured under the primary policy. At the 

very least, this Court has established that where there are two 

plausible interpretations of policy language, the interpretation that 
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favors coverage is the legally correct one. Am. Nat. Fire Ins. Co. v. 

B & L Trucking & Const. Co., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 413, 427 (1998). 

This device also allowed the Court to slip away from the 

issue of whether the "commercial general liability insurance" 

required by the Master Agreement includes the "commercial 

umbrella liability insurance" provided by the umbrella policy. 

Referring to the $1,000,000 CGL policy lying beneath the umbrella, 

the Court said: "It is undisputed that Davis Door purchased that 

kind of policy with the limits required by the master agreement. It 

was not required to do more." Published Opinion at page 4. 

Neither "commercial general liability insurance" nor "commercial 

umbrella liability insurance" is defined in either the umbrella policy 

or the Master Agreement. No analysis was undertaken whether the 

"commercial general liability insurance" required by the Master 

Agreement could be anything other than the underlying CGL policy 

even though the words "commercial general liability insurance" are 

not capitalized in the Master Agreement, suggesting commercial 

insurance generically, rather than a CGL policy specifically. Master 

Agreement, (CP 448, 9.a.) No analysis was undertaken to 

determine what these undefined terms mean in the policy when 

taking their ordinary meaning as required by case law, or whether 
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they created an ambiguity requiring an interpretation favorable to 

the insured. Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia lndem. Ins. Co., 174 

Wn.2d 501, 512, 276 P.3d 300 (2013) (Ordinary meaning); Queen 

City Farms, Inc., v. Central Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, 126 Wn.2d 50, 

68 882 P.2d 703 (1994) (ambiguities in an insurance policy are 

interpreted to mean the most favorable reasonable interpretation for 

the insured). In addition, no attempt was made to interpret the 

underlying Master Agreement. 

Basing an interpretation of an insurance policy upon an 

underlying contract has another negative impact. It dilutes the 

benefit of standardized contract forms. Both insurers and insureds 

rely on the stability produced by consistent interpretation of 

standard insurance forms. Harris, Washington Insurance Law, Sec. 

6.2 p. 6-7 (3d Ed. 2010). The decision in Ms. Lewark's case 

threatens to upset this stability. 

Very recently a West Virginia federal district court faced the 

issue confronting Ms. Lewark and provided a useful analysis. 

Norfolk Southern Ry. Co., v. National Union Fire Ins. of Pittsburgh 

2014 WL 773517, United States District Court, S.D. West Virginia 

February 26, 2014~ F.Supp.2d _. Norfolk Southern leased 

railroad property to Cobra to use for a loadout. The lease required 
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"Tenant [Cobra] [to] procure and maintain, ... Commercial General 

Liability Insurance [with] a single limit of not less than $2,000,000." 

/d. at *3. Like Davis Door, Cobra obtained both an underlying CGL 

policy from National Union, with limits of $2,000,000, and an 

umbrella policy from Westchester, with limits of $10,000,000. After 

an accident subjected Norfolk Southern to significant liability 

Westchester denied coverage under the umbrella. The federal court 

coverage action resulted. 

In addition to covering Cobra, Westchester's umbrella 

covered any entity "that has obligated you by written contract to 

provide the insurance that is afforded by this policy." /d. at *3. 

Westchester argued Norfolk Southern was not an additional insured 

under its umbrella policy because Cobra was only obligated to 

provide $2,000,000 in coverage, the amount provided by National 

Union's underlying CGL, similar to the argument American States 

brought against Ms. Lewark. 

The Court disagreed. "The 2008 Lease Agreement does not 

establish a cap on the insurance Cobra is to obtain. Quite simply, 

Cobra was required to obtain insurance for the benefit of Cobra and 

Norfolk Southern, and that insurance could not have a limit of 'less 

than $2,000,000.' Cobra could, and did, obtain insurance in excess 
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of $2 million consistent with the terms of the 2008 Lease 

Agreement." 1 

B. IS SELF-INSURED RETENTION "INSURANCE"? 

Upon remand, Ms. Lewark is concerned with the holding in 

the withdrawn Unpublished Opinion that a $500,000 self-insured 

retention below Public Storage's own policy is considered 

"insurance" in applying the American States' "other insurance" 

provision. 

It appeared to be settled that self-insured retention is not 

insurance. Bordeaux, Inc. v. American Safety Ins. Co., 145 Wash. 

App. 687, 696, 186 P.3d 1188 (2008). The reasoning that 

"traditional insurance involves risk shifting while self-insurance 

1 This most recent authority is consistent with the argument and cases at page 3 of Ms. 
Lewark's Reply Brief of Appellant. No contrary authority was presented by American 
States. 

The Norfolk Southern court added a second basis for its holding saying, "Further, the 
2009 Lease Agreement expressly contemplates limits grater than $2 million, as indicated 
by the parenthetical clause, '(or such greater amount over time so as to be commercially 
reasonable.)"' ld at *4. The clause providing for an increase in policy limits if it became 
commercially reasonable appears to allow the parties to negotiate a change within the 
standard of commercial reasonableness in the future. The standard might permit this 
renegotiation without offending the forbidden "agreement to agree" limitation on 
enforceability. See, Restatement (Second) Contracts, Sec. 33 (1981) (Westlaw Ed. 2014); 
Associated Indem. Corp. v. Dow Chemical Co., 935 F.2d 800 (1991). Since no change 
had apparently been made at the time of the lawsuit it had no direct impact on the case. 

The court distinguished one case cited by Westchester in which the underlying 
contract obligated a party to obtain insurance with limits of"up to one million dollars," 
language rather obviously establishing a ceiling rather than the floor required by "not less 
than." ld at *4. Several other cases in which the operative language was "not Jess than" 
were dismissed by the court saying "(t]he other cases cited by Westchester employ 
Westchester's faulty reasoning that 'not less than' is a cap on Cobras obligation." Id at 
*4. The Court of Appeals in Ms. Lewark's case used the same faulty reasoning. 
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App. 687, 696, 186 P.3d 1188 (2008). The reasoning that 

"traditional insurance involves risk shifting while self-insurance 

involves risk retention" is persuasive. However, if the Court of 

Appeals continues in its stated belief that the rule in Bordeaux only 

applies in a subrogation setting, Public Storage's assigned 

indemnity rights (though not its defense rights) could be severely 

impacted. 

Self-insured retention plays an increasingly important role in 

commercial insurance programs. Public interest would be served 

by removing the doubt that the Bordeaux rule may not apply 

outside of a subrogation setting. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Petitioner asks the Supreme Court to accept review and to: 

1. Rule that Public Storage had coverage for Ms. 

Lewark's claim as an additional insured under the American States 

umbrella policy as written. 

2. Rule that self-insured retention is not insurance for 

the purpose of applying the "other insurance" provision in the 

American States policy. 

3. Remand to the trial court for further handling.