Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAY 2 3 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

No. 90184-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRIE LEWARK, assignee of PUBLIC STORAGE

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN STATES INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer,

Respondent

AMERICAN STATES INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 68634-8-I

David M. Jacobi, WSBA #13524 WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, Washington 98164-2050 Telephone - 206.623.4100 Fax - 206.623.9273 Electronic mail - jacobi@wscd.com

1. Identity of Answering Party

The defendant below and respondent on appeal, American States Insurance Company ("ASIC"), seeks the relief stated in section 2, below.

2. <u>Statement of Relief Sought</u>

ASIC asks the Court to deny review of the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, dated February 10, 2014 and published on March 25, 2014, in which the Division I Panel affirmed the trial court's summary judgment order dismissing Terrie Lewark's claims, which she asserted as the assignee of Public Storage ("PS").¹

3. <u>Issues Presented for Review</u>

Ms. Lewark has asked the Court to accept review of two issues. She has misstated the first issue; and the second issue is not properly before this Court under RAP 13.4 or any other governing Rule of Appellate Procedure.

Issue 1: ASIC's named insured, Davis Door ("Davis"), purchased an umbrella/excess liability insurance policy. The policy specifically stated that a third party and stranger to the policy, like Public Storage, would also be treated

¹ Ms. Lewark sued PS and Davis Door ("Davis"), alleging she injured her back while operating an overhead door at a PS facility. (CP 521-529). She settled with PS for \$299,000 and later settled with Davis for an additional \$225,000. Lewark then obtained an assignment of PS's putative rights against ASIC and Davis and sued both – ASIC for insurance coverage and alleged "bad faith," Davis to recover as an indemnitee under the contract between PS and Davis. Slip opinion at 2. Lewark also asserted a claim against Davis for failure to procure insurance coverage. With Davis's motion for summary judgment on that claim pending, Ms. Lewark voluntarily dismissed all claims against Davis. (CP 1177-93; 1471-72; 1829; 1938-51; 2026-27). She then commenced her appeal against ASIC.

as an insured *only* if Davis was required, by a separate written contract with that third party, to provide the insurance afforded under the excess/umbrella policy. Did both the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly rule that PS was not an insured under Davis's umbrella/excess policy, because the contract between PS and Davis – which PS drafted – specifically required Davis to make PS an additional insured under a *primary liability insurance policy*, which Davis did, in fact, do?

Issue 2: The Court of Appeals *withdrew* its original opinion in this case, in which the Court construed and applied the "excess and other insurance" provisions of the umbrella/excess insurance policy that ASIC issued to Davis. Should this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals' withdrawn opinion because that opinion is not a decision terminating review that is subject to this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4; and because the question whether a self-insured retention is "insurance" is irrelevant to the application of the ASIC umbrella/excess policy, which specifically states that it is *excess of all deductibles and self-insurance*?

- 4. <u>Reasons Why Review Should Be Denied</u>
 - a. <u>The umbrella/excess insurance policy that Davis Door</u> <u>purchased from ASIC does not grant insured status to</u> <u>Public Storage unless a contract between Davis Door and</u> <u>Public Storage requires Davis Door to obtain that policy and</u> <u>to make Public Storage an "additional insured" under that</u> <u>policy.</u>

Public Storage did not enter into an insurance contract with ASIC – Davis Door did. PS did not pay premiums to obtain coverage from ASIC – Davis Door did. The unambiguous provisions of the umbrella/excess insurance policy that Davis purchased from ASIC point the reader directly to the provisions of Davis's contract with a third party, like PS, to determine whether that third party will be granted status as an additional insured under the policy:

Each of the following is an insured under this policy to the extent set forth below: ...

G. Any person or organization for which an insured is required by virtue of a written contract entered into prior to an "occurrence" to provide the kind of insurance that is afforded by this policy, but only with respect to operations by or on an insured's behalf, or to facilities an insured owns or uses, and only to the extent of the limits of insurance required by such contract, but not to exceed the applicable limits of insurance set forth in this policy.²

Under this provision, PS is only an additional insured under the umbrella/excess policy *if the contract between PS and Davis required Davis* "to provide the kind of insurance afforded by" that policy.

There is only one place to look to determine whether Davis was "required by contract" to obtain umbrella/excess insurance coverage and to make PS an additional insured under that umbrella/excess insurance coverage – the "Master Agreement" between Davis and PS.

As a result, Lewark's argument that Judges Applewick, Schindler and Becker somehow "violated the context rule" by "misusing an extrinsic contract to interpret the insurance policy" is both illogical and meritless. The

² CP 420 (emphasis added).

members of the Division I Panel were not required to "interpret" the insurance policy at all. The policy is crystal clear about how a stranger to the policy, like PS, may qualify as an insured: by entering into a contract with the named insured that requires the named insured to obtain the type of coverage afforded under the policy.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals were not called upon to "interpret" the insurance policy – only to apply its unambiguous wording.³ Under the unambiguous wording of the insurance policy, both of the courts below were required to determine what the words contained in the contract between Davis and PS – the so-called "Master Agreement" -- required Davis to do. Neither ASIC nor Davis drafted that Master Agreement – PS did. As PS's assignee, Lewark must live with the Agreement that PS wrote.⁴

³ Under Quadrant Corp. v. American States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171-72, 110 P.3d 733 (2005), Washington courts apply the unambiguous provisions of an insurance policy as written; and a policy provision is only "ambiguous" if it is susceptible to two different interpretations, both of which are reasonable. Lewark has not shown that the grant of additional insured status contained in the umbrella/excess policy could have two different and reasonable meanings, in the abstract or in the context of this case. Similarly, the contract that PS drafted says PS must be made an additional insured under a *primary liability insurance policy*; there is nothing ambiguous about that requirement. PS used the very same words to describe the required insurance in correspondence before this lawsuit commenced (CP 456); and Ms. Lewark did the same in her Complaint and motion papers in this litigation. (CP 1471).

⁴ Any ambiguity in the Master Agreement concerning the "additional insured" coverage that Davis was required to procure for PS should be construed against PS. As the drafter, PS was required to provide Davis with a clear description of the "additional insured" coverage Davis would have to obtain to comply with the contract, and cannot rely on an ambiguity to impose broader duties on Davis or Davis's insurer. See, e.g., Emter v. Columbia Health Servs., 63 Wn. App. 378, 384, 819 P.2d 390 (1991) (drafter cannot [Footnote continues on next page...]

b. <u>Public Storage is not an additional insured under Davis</u> <u>Door's umbrella/excess insurance policy because the Master</u> <u>Agreement between Public Storage and Davis Door did not</u> <u>require Davis to obtain or to make Public Storage an</u> <u>additional insured under an umbrella/excess insurance</u> <u>policy</u>.

Because Public Storage's status as an additional insured under the ASIC umbrella/excess policy hinges on what "additional insured" coverage Davis Door was contractually bound to obtain for PS, this insurance coverage dispute properly begins -- and ends -- with a contract of adhesion that was drafted by PS, the world's largest landlord, and the owner and operator of thousands of self-storage facilities around the globe. Before PS would permit Davis to perform any repair work on overhead doors at Public's facilities in the Seattle area, it required Davis to sign a form contract called a "Master Agreement." In Paragraph 10, that Master Agreement described, in some detail, the insurance Davis was required to obtain before Public would do business with Davis.⁵

Lewark's Petition selectively cites a small portion of the relevant wording of the Master Agreement, in which PS directed Davis to obtain:

[C]ommercial general liability insurance insuring against claims for personal injury, death or property damage occurring upon,

⁵ CP 507-08.

take advantage of ambiguities it could have prevented with greater diligence); *Cont'l Ins. Co. v. PACCAR, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 160, 167, 634 P.2d 291 (1981) (party who created the contract is in a better position to prevent ambiguous language or mistakes).

in or about the Property in limits not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence. $^{\rm 6}$

But the Master Agreement said much more about the "additional insurance" coverage Davis was required to procure for Public's benefit – all of which Lewark conveniently glosses over in her Petition, just as she did in making the same illogical, and by now tired arguments in the trial court and in the Court of Appeals. The Master Agreement did not say "you must make Public Storage an additional insured under any and all insurance policies you may have in force during and after the time you perform your work" at a PS facility – although that is how Lewark would like to convince a court to construe the Master Agreement. Instead, the Agreement set out very specific criteria for the insurance that Davis was required to procure to comply with PS's requirements.

First, Paragraph 10 of the Agreement specifically required Davis to obtain and make PS an additional insured under *primary insurance coverage* that would not be excess over PS's own insurance:

All liability insurance coverage required under this Paragraph 10 shall provide that the insurance provided to each additional insured shall be primary insurance, and any other insurance carried by an additional insured shall be treated as excess or contingent coverage, and the amount of Contractor's Insurance Carrier's liability shall not be reduced by the existence of such other insurance.⁷

⁶ Petition for Review at 2, citing CP 724.

⁷ CP 507-08. The Master Agreement also gave PS the right to obtain insurance and charge Davis for the premiums in the event that PS found the insurance Davis procured unacceptable. CP 508. PS never exercised that option.

To comply with the requirements of the Master Agreement, Davis did, in fact, obtain primary liability insurance coverage from ASIC that made PS an additional insured. The primary liability policy had limits of \$1 million; contained an endorsement that made PS an additional insured; and made Public's own insurance excess or contingent – all exactly as Paragraph 10 of the Master Agreement required.⁸ However, the additional insurance coverage only applied to Davis's "ongoing operations" for the additional insurance insured – there was no coverage for "completed operations." In other words, if an injury occurred after Davis had finished its door repair work at PS's premises, the additional insurance coverage would not apply.

Because the primary coverage did not extend to "completed operations," the primary coverage did not extend to Ms. Lewark's underlying complaint, which alleged that she was injured *after* Davis had finished its repair work on a door at a PS facility -- long after Davis had left the building in the exclusive care and control of PS.

Second, Paragraph 10 stated that the primary insurance that Davis must provide, and in which PS must be made an additional insured, must remain in force "during the entire progress of the Work."⁹ The Master Agreement does not state that PS must be made an additional insured for injury that occurs after Davis has completed its work and is no longer on the

⁸ CP 798-99.

[°] CP 507.

job. While the Master Agreement is quite specific about the limits of coverage and provisions that must be included in the insurance that Davis is required to procure, the Agreement makes no mention of "completed operations" coverage at all – and does not require Davis to procure additional insured coverage for PS that covers Davis's completed operations.¹⁰

Looking at the Master Agreement, and at the umbrella/excess insurance policy as a whole, it is clear that the umbrella/excess policy is *not* the insurance coverage Davis was required to obtain, or that it did obtain, under Paragraph 10 of the contract. It is not the primary insurance that paragraph 10 called for at all.

Instead, the umbrella/excess policy specifically states that it is *excess* over any and all other insurance <u>and any and all other self-insured</u> retentions:

E. OTHER INSURANCE

- 1. This insurance is excess over, and shall not contribute with any other insurance, whether primary, excess, contingent or on any other basis. This condition will not apply to insurance written specifically as excess over this policy.
- 2. When this insurance is excess, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any "suit" if any other insurer has a duty to defend the insured against that "suit". If no other insurer defends, we will undertake to do so. but we will be entitled to your rights against all other insurers, and you shall

¹⁰ See Hartford Insurance Co. v. Ohio Casualty Insurance Co., 145 Wn. App. 765, 189 P.3d 195 (2008), for a thorough discussion of the distinction between additional insurance coverage that extends to "completed operations" of the named insured, in contrast with such coverage that applies only to "ongoing operations" of the named insured.

execute and deliver instruments and papers, including assignments of rights, and do whatever else is necessary to secure such rights.

- 3. When this insurance is excess over other insurance, we will pay our share of the "ultimate net loss" that exceeds the sum of:
 - a. The total amount that all such other insurance would pay for the loss in the absence of this insurance; and
 - b. The total of all deductible and selfinsured amounts under all such other insurance.¹¹

In short, the umbrella/excess policy that Davis purchased from ASIC was in no way required by the Paragraph 10 of the Master Agreement, and it is in no way tailored to comply with the insurance requirements of the Master Agreement. It is not primary insurance coverage. Instead, in direct contravention of the insurance specifications contained in Paragraph 10 of the Master Agreement, the umbrella/excess policy states that it is excess over all other insurance, and specifically states that it is also excess of all other deductibles and self-insured retentions. Indeed, by its very nature, the ASIC "umbrella/excess insurance policy" is *not* the "primary liability insurance" called out in the provisions of the Master Agreement.

Furthermore, the record on appeal makes it abundantly clear that PS fully understood what was required under the Master Agreement that PS itself drafted and demanded that Davis sign. Ms. Lewark herself told the trial court: "the actual contract language require[s] primary general liability

¹¹ CP 433 (emphasis added).

insurance;" and emphasized that "Ms. Lewark's complaint alleges and the Master Agreement shows Davis Door was required to obtain primary commercial general liability insurance to protect Public Storage."¹² The trial court and the Court of Appeals were both entitled to consider this "context evidence," because it did not in any way alter or contradict the plain meaning of the words PS chose to use in the Master Agreement – the evidence merely confirmed that the words mean exactly what they say.

Lewark, on the other hand, was urging the courts below to ignore both the plain meaning of the Master Agreement and other writings from PS and Lewark herself which confirmed that when the Master Agreement said Davis was required to obtain *primary* insurance, it *meant* primary insurance. If and to the extent the courts below considered evidence outside the Master Agreement as an aid to construction, both of the courts below properly applied the *Hearst Communications*¹³ "context rule" by looking to evidence that merely confirmed the plain meaning of the words used in the Agreement and did not modify or supplement the Agreement's text.

¹² CP 1471 (emphasis added). What if Davis had only purchased a primary liability insurance policy with limits of \$1 million, that made PS an additional insured – but had never purchased an umbrella/excess insurance policy? Based on the wording of the "Master Agreement," no one could reasonably claim that Davis failed to procure the insurance coverage required under the Master Agreement. (CP 1938-1951). Davis's decision to obtain and pay for additional, umbrella/excess liability coverage for its own benefit had nothing whatsoever to do with the Master Agreement. To extend additional insured coverage to PS under that umbrella/excess policy would be a mere gratuity that PS did not bargain for, and for which PS did not pay any consideration to Davis or to ASIC.

¹³ 154 Wn.2d 493, 502-04, 509, 115 P.3d 292 (2005).

Lewark, on the other hand, urged the courts below, and now urges this Court, to violate the basic principle stated in Hearst Communications – that extrinsic "context evidence" may not be used to modify or contradict the actual words of the contract between PS and Davis. That contract unequivocally required Davis to obtain primary liability insurance that made PS an additional insured, and to provide such coverage "during the entire progress of the Work." Lewark would have the courts ignore these provisions of the Agreement and find that the Agreement was intended, instead, to require Davis to make PS an additional insured under any and all liability insurance policies that Davis might purchase – regardless whether those policies might be primary, excess or contingent, and regardless of the limits of that coverage. The Agreement quite simply does not say that – and to construe the contract that way now would do violence to the contract wording and give PS – and Lewark as its assignee – a pure windfall.

Davis did obtain a \$1 million primary insurance policy and did make PS an additional insured under that policy.¹⁴ In so doing, Davis fully satisfied the Master Agreement's plainly worded requirement that Davis make PS an additional insured under a *primary liability insurance policy*, with limits of at least \$1 million, that made PS's own insurance "excess or contingent coverage." The contract never required Davis to do more.

¹⁴ (CP 798-99).

The only reason Lewark has argued, *post hoc*, that PS is an additional insured under the umbrella/excess policy is simple – no one disputes that the "additional insured" coverage for "ongoing operations" that is provided under the \$1 million primary insurance policy *did not cover Ms. Lewark's personal injury claim and did not require ASIC to defend or indemnify PS, whether PS tendered a claim to ASIC or not*.

Davis was not required to obtain additional insured coverage for PS that would cover every conceivable claim – it was required only to obtain the additional insurance coverage described in the Master Agreement. The insurance described in the Master Agreement did not include coverage for PS, as an additional insured, for Davis Door's "completed operations," and it did not include coverage of any kind under an umbrella/excess policy, and under no circumstances was Davis required to insure PS against claims arising out of PS's own allegedly negligent maintenance and operation of its storage facilities when Davis's work was done and it was no longer on the premises.¹⁵

Nor did the Master Agreement – the controlling contract that PS wrote and presented to Davis on a take it or leave it basis – require Davis to make PS an additional insured under each and every insurance policy that Davis might purchase, primary or excess. The Agreement states with specificity what insurance Davis was required to obtain *for PS's benefit as*

12

¹⁵ See RCW 4.24.115 (invalidating such indemnification provisions in contracts for improvements to real property).

an additional insured – and that is what Davis obtained when it purchased the \$1 million primary liability policy from American Economy.

The umbrella/excess insurance directly benefits only Davis – which applied and paid for the coverage. It does not benefit PS – which did not bargain with Davis or ASIC to obtain umbrella/excess coverage, and never paid any consideration to obtain such coverage, whether in its contract with Davis or through payment of premiums to ASIC.

Public Storage is not the policyholder. If it does not qualify as an additional insured, it is a stranger to the umbrella/excess policy, with no more rights under the policy than any other stranger – *i.e.*, no rights whatsoever. The trial court properly dismissed all of Lewark's contract and extracontractual claims on this basis alone, because as PS's assignee, she has no more right to assert a claim against ASIC than PS did. The Court of Appeals did not err when it affirmed; and there is no conflict with existing law and no question of public importance that calls for this Court's review under RAP 13.4.

c. <u>The Federal District Court's decision in Norfolk Southern</u>, <u>applying West Virginia law, does not provide a basis for</u> Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4.

Ms. Lewark has chosen to make the decision of the District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia in *Norfolk Southern Railway v. National* *Fire*¹⁶ the linchpin of her Petition for Review, arguing that her Petition "confronts the same issue" that was before that Federal trial court. In truth, a careful reading of the *Norfolk Southern* decision reveals that the question of West Virginia law that was before the District Court is thoroughly distinguishable from the "the issue confronting Ms. Lewark," the King County Superior Court, Division I of the Court of Appeals, and this Court in the instant case.¹⁷

In the *Norfolk Southern* case, the named insured Norfolk contracted with Cobra. The contract required Cobra to obtain liability insurance with limits "of not less than \$2 million" making Norfolk an additional insured. Cobra obtained a primary policy with limits of \$2 million; and also obtained an umbrella/excess policy with limits of \$10 million. The excess policy granted additional insured status to any entity "that has obligated you by written contract to provide the insurance that is afforded by this policy." Westchester argued that because the contract called for coverage with limits of "not less than \$2 million," Cobra was not "obligated" to procure coverage *over* \$2 million – and thus its excess policy did not apply.

¹⁶ 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24092 (S.D. W. Va., Feb. 26, 2014).

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